IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	Supreme Court Case No. SC05-1425	
Complainant,		
v. REID ALEXANDER COCALIS,	The Florida Bar File No. 2003-50,454(17B)	
Respondent.		

THE FLORIDA BAR'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

ALAN ANTHONY PASCAL, #961663 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 5900 North Andrews Ave., Suite 900 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33309 (954) 772-2245

KENNETH L. MARVIN, #200999 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (850)-561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR., #123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Throughout this Initial Brief, The Florida Bar will refer to specific parts of the record as follows: The Report of Referee dated February 7, 2006, will be designated as RR ___ (indicating the referenced page number). The transcript of the final hearing held on January 9, 2006, will be designated as TT1 ___ (indicating the referenced page number). The transcript of the continuation of the final hearing held on April 10, 2006, will be designated as TT2___ (indicating the referenced page number). The Florida Bar will be referred to as "the Bar." Reid Alexander Cocalis will be referred to as "respondent." Appendix will be designated as A ___.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 18, 2002, the Fourth District Court of Appeal filed its initial opinion in *Bradley v. Brotman*. The Fourth District Court revised and withdrew its first opinion and filed a revised opinion on February 19, 2003. *Bradley v. Brotman*, 386 So.2d 1129 (4th DCA 2003). (A 1). The respondent represented GEICO Insurance Company on behalf of the appellee/defendant Brotman at the trial court level. Jon Krupnick represented the Bradley family. The district court reversed and remanded the final judgment at the trial court level due to defense counsel's misconduct. *Id*. The district court found two specific incidents that involved ethical misconduct by respondent. *Id*.

The case involved a two year old child, Kelly Bradley, who was bitten on the lip by a dog belonging to appellee/defendant Brotman in September 1996. Weeks after the dog bite, the child's hair began falling out. The child received a diagnosis of alopecia areata on the child's scalp, a skin disease resulting in a loss of hair. Bradley's parents brought suit against the appellee/defendant Brotman. The main issue in the case consisted of whether the stress of the dog bite caused the alopecia.

The discovery cut off for both sides in the civil case was May 22, 2000. On May 22, 2000, Jon Krupnick sent a letter to respondent indicating that Dr. Bernhardt, a treating dermatologist, would have evidence to support the civil

claim. Respondent sought to speak to this doctor whom he had not deposed. (A 2). On May 23, 2000, just a few days prior to trial, respondent called Dr. Bernhardt without notice to Krupnick. He advised the doctor that he had treated him in the past, and asked the doctor, "off the record," the substance of his testimony. Respondent also told the doctor not to trust Krupnick; the doctor immediately ended the call with respondent and called Krupnick. Krupnick filed a motion to strike the pleadings based on the improper phone call. *Id*.

The Fourth District found that respondent's attempt to elicit patient information from Dr. Bernhard was in violation of Florida Statute 455.667(5) (Renumbered 456.057(5)) which prevented any *ex parte* communication with a physician regarding a patient's condition. Krupnick argued that sanctions were appropriate due to the actions of the respondent. The trial court authorized Lawrence P. Kuvin, Kelly Bradley's guardian ad litem, to investigate the circumstances surrounding the respondent's contact with the doctor. The guardian ad litem reported that the phone contact was willful and tainted the testimony of Dr. Bernhardt. The trial court did not grant Krupnick's motion to strike the pleadings. The Fourth District Court of Appeal found that this phone contact was both "unlawful and unprofessional;" however, this contact was not the basis for a reversal of the final judgment.

The Fourth District addressed the circumstances surrounding the introduction of a new notation in the medical records of Dr. Unis, another treating dermatologist in the case, at trial. This note, reflecting a telephone conversation between Krupnick and the doctor, stated "I advised him that I do not think that the patient's persistent problem with alopecia areata at this point would be due to the stress from a prior dog bite." (A 3). Another notation indicated that he sent this record to respondent on May 24, 2000. Krupnick never received these notes prior to trial. Respondent sent two subpoenas duces tecum on May 23 and 25, 2000, to the records custodians with Drs. Unis' and Bernhardt's offices and to Dr. Unis personally relating to the treatment of Kelly Bradley. Contrary to the directives of the subpoena, Dr. Unis mistakenly sent his medical records to the respondent. Instead of immediately returning the records unopened and advising opposing counsel of the error, the respondent opened and reviewed all the records and discovered the new notation. Review of these records by the respondent was in violation of Florida Statute 455.667(5) (Renumbered 456.057(5)). Furthermore, respondent only copied the medical record containing the new damaging notation and returned them to Dr. Unis' office without notifying Krupnick. Prior to the start of the jury trial, the respondent never responded to inquiries from Krupnick whether respondent had any other *ex parte* contacts with other experts. Respondent and sought to catch Krupnick by surprise at trial. (A 4).

Krupnick had knowledge that Dr. Unis had only examined Kelly once in 1996. Dr. Unis had diagnosed the child's alopecia areata. The doctor was deposed in 1999. Krupnick read Dr. Unis' deposition into evidence at trial, and reasonably relied on the belief that the medical records sought to be introduced were the same ones identified by the doctor during his deposition. Krupnick was completely unaware that respondent introduced the medical records containing the new notation which were sent to his office in error. (TT1 69-74). Krupnick objected to the introduction of the new notation in the medical records upon discovering its existence, but the trial court refused to redact the new damaging notation. The respondent, in turn, blew up a posterboard-size version of Dr. Unis' medical note on the telephone conversation with Krupnick and made it the focus of his closing argument. (TT1 72-74). Respondent also argued that Krupnick had called all but one treating physician, Dr. Unis, because his opinion did not support Kelly's condition as being related to the stress from the dog bite. (TT1 159-160). The jury returned a defense verdict awarding Bradley's past medical expenses but not any future damages.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed " ... and ordered a new trial on the basis of admission of Dr. Unis' medical records, but we condemn the actions of

defense counsel as to the contact with Dr. Bernhardt and the strategic concealment of Dr. Unis' records." *Id*.

In October 2002, respondent's appellate counsels, William R. Scherer, Esq., and Nancy W. Gregoire, Esq., sought a revision of the September 2002 opinion of the district court. The pleading was placed into evidence by respondent's counsels at the final hearing. Specifically, these attorneys proffered that "Mr. Cocalis agrees that the two incidents cited by the Court were below the standards expected by this Court and others." (A 5). The respondent's appellate attorneys also conceded respondent's misconduct as two lapses in judgment. (A 5).

On March 29, 2005, The Florida Bar concluded its investigation of the respondent's actions and Seventeenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "B" found probable cause consistent with the findings of the district court and found violations of the following R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.3, 4-3.3(a)(1), 4-3.4(a) and 4-8.4 (a)(c)& (d).

The Florida Bar filed its complaint on August 15, 2005. The Honorable Stephen A. Rapp was appointed referee on August 25, 2005, by the Honorable Edward Fine, Acting Chief Judge of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit to handle the disciplinary case. The case went to final hearing on January 9, 2006. The Florida Bar and respondent presented the findings of ethical misconduct within the revised opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal. (TT1 7; A 1). The respondent

argued that the findings of the Fourth District Court of Appeal should be provided less weight and were only supported by the "cold record." (TT1 19) However, the Fourth District Court of Appeal based its findings on all of the same documents, pleadings, and depositions relied on by the trial court. The respondent entered selected portions of the trial record in his composite exhibit (TT1 5) introduced into evidence at the final hearing.

The trial court authorized Kelly Bradley's guardian ad Item, Lawrence P. Kuvin, to investigate the circumstances surrounding the telephone contact with Dr. Bernhardt just before the trial date. Lawrence P. Kuvin, Esq., a 48-year practicing attorney handling mostly personal injury cases, testified about his investigation of the respondent's conduct concerning the telephone call. (TT1 24-30). Mr. Kuvin explained his understanding of the Florida Statute 455.667(5) (Renumbered 456.057(5)) which was the subject of his investigation. The court took judicial notice of Florida Statute 455.667(5) (Renumbered 456.057(5)). Mr. Kuvin testified that this statute prohibited respondent's contact with Dr. Bernhardt without court authorization and notice to the patient or patient's legal representative. As part of investigation, Mr. Kuvin took the sworn testimony of Dr. Bernhardt. (TT1 24-27). This sworn statement was introduced into evidence for the referee's consideration. (A 6). The respondent attempted to impeach Mr. Kuvin's testimony on irrelevant issues. (TT1 30-47). However, both the sworn statement of Dr. Bernhardt, along

with Mr. Kuvin's testimony, corroborated the intentional misconduct of the respondent. The respondent attempted to induce the doctor to reveal illegal and privileged patient information by improperly calling the physician and asking about information on the pending case "off the record." The sworn statement of the doctor clearly showed how the respondent made intentional contact with an improper motive. (A 6). The respondent first identified himself as a patient, along with other family members, then finally identified himself as counsel for the appellee. Respondent then specifically sought information about the doctor's testimony at trial concerning causation. (TT1 47-49). The only reason that the respondent was unsuccessful in obtaining improper information was due to the doctor's action of ending phone call. (A 6).

The Bar then called Jon Krupnick, Esq., counsel for the Bradleys, to testify before the referee. (TT1 49-70). Krupnick testified that he has been a practicing attorney for approximately 40 years. Krupnick testified to the improper introduction of new medical records that were introduced at trial. He recounted his discovery of the improper phone call to Dr. Bernhardt after the discovery cut-off period, and just prior to trial, and his motion to strike the pleadings which was ultimately denied by the trial court. Krupnick also testified about the fact that contact with experts became the topic of court hearings prior to trial. (A 4). Again, the respondent intentionally, through his willful omissions, failed to advise

Krupnick or the court about the improper receipt of Dr. Unis' medical records. Krupnick's question surrounding expert contacts beyond those discovered prior to trial, clearly provided an opportunity for respondent to disclose the mistaken receipt of Dr. Unis' medical records to opposing counsel. The respondent introduced an excerpt from the court hearing, focusing on the questions of Krupnick concerning expert contacts. (A 6). While seeking to justify the non-disclosure of the medical records by proffering that Krupnick was only talking about the *discovered* impermissible contacts with Dr. Bernhardt and his office, the respondent intentionally failed to disclose the willful omission of the mistaken receipt of these records to opposing counsel and the trial court. Krupnick also testified that the surprise introduction of the new notation was extremely damaging to his case. (TT1 93).

The referee then took testimony from Susan Rogers, Esq., co-counsel. (TT1 91-131). On direct examination, Ms. Rogers provided little relevant testimony concerning the allegations of ethical misconduct. Instead, this witness attempted to bring out extraneous facts about opposing counsel, Krupnick, and the merits of the civil case. First, she testified that it was her belief that the Florida Statute 455.667(5) (Renumbered 456.057(5)) was not violated by respondent calling Dr. Bernhardt; however, Ms. Rogers admitted that she was not present during the respondent's phone call to Dr. Bernhardt. (TT1 109-110). Her testimony

was later contradicted by respondent's testimony that she was actually present during this telephone call. (TT1 149). Also, her testimony about Dr. Unis' records was limited to her belief that it was not improper to subpoena these records without notice to opposing counsel, Krupnick. (TT1 118). On cross examination, Ms. Rogers became evasive about whether she provided notice to opposing counsel Krupnick concerning the mistaken receipt of the medical records from Dr. Unis. (TT1 123-127). Ultimately, Ms. Rogers admitted that neither respondent nor herself ever advised Krupnick of their receipt of Dr. Unis' medical records. (TT1 127). The witness also agreed that other lawful remedies were available to challenge the testimony of Dr. Bernhardt in the trial court, as opposed to calling the doctor directly.

The respondent testified before the referee. (TT1 132-183). His testimony included the mentioning that his mother was a senior judge. (TT 132). The respondent was admitted to The Florida Bar in November 1987. (TT1 133 -134). The referee, over bar counsel's objections, allowed irrelevant, highly inflammatory, and unsubstantiated testimony about Krupnick's character. (TT1 138-141). Specifically, on direct examination before the referee, the respondent stated his motivation and his intentions for calling Dr. Bernhardt without notice to opposing counsel and in violation of Florida Statutes:

Q: (Mr. Tynan): Okay. Let's talk about what you did prior to the phone call. Who did you talk to, what did you decide to do before you made the phone call?

A: Well, I'm going to discuss the situation with Susan Bernhard [sic Rogers]. I mean, I was concerned, a couple of things, trial by ambush and, **quite frankly, I thought this was an opportunity to nail a litigator** [emphasis added] who's been dishonest throughout the litigation once and for all. (TT1 - 147).

The respondent claimed that Ms. Rogers was present, contrary to Ms. Rogers' testimony, during the call to Dr. Bernhardt. (TT1 149). Respondent believed that he was not violating the statute because he was only going to ask the doctor about whether or not he was going to testify to causation. (TT1 149-150). However, given the opportunity to deny using the term "off the record," he could not recall whether he stated that this phone call was "off the record" or not. (TT1 150). The respondent also stated that in 19 years of practice, he has not sent notices of trial subpoenas to opposing counsel. (TT1 154). Respondent attempted to explain away the receipt of the medical records containing the new damaging notation.

Respondent provided an affidavit from his paralegal, Carol Florence. (A 7). Ms. Florence advised that the medical records were received in error; yet, her affidavit failed to disclose the respondent's actions with these records after receipt. The medical records were not immediately returned unopened with notice to Krupnick. Instead, respondent admitted that he intentionally opened, reviewed and

returned the records to Dr. Unis. Respondent testified, "I sent it all back. ... I do believe I made a copy of the – that very last note." (TT1 157). The respondent concluded his testimony by answering self-serving questions that he did not violate any ethical rules alleged in the Bar's complaint. He also concluded his direct examination by again improperly mentioning that his mother was a retired judge, and that he was motivated to try to catch the opposing counsel in unethical behavior. (TT1 183).

On cross examination, (TT1 183-206), the respondent testified that this litigation was highly adversarial and emotional between himself and Krupnick. (TT1 188-189). Respondent conceded to lapses in good judgment, yet he would not acknowledge that he violated any ethical rules. (TT1 187-188). Respondent "absolutely" disagreed with the Fourth District Court of Appeal findings of misconduct related to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-3.4(a). (TT1 186). Furthermore, he admitted, for a second time during his testimony, that his primary intent in calling Dr. Bernhardt was to "nail" Krupnick (TT1 189-190). He also could not recall whether he used the comment "off the record" or not. The respondent finally conceded, in hindsight, that when questioned at the trial level about contacts with Dr. Unis' office, that an appropriate opportunity was provided to disclose the receipt of the medical records in error. (TT1 195-196).

Bar counsel and respondent's counsel presented their arguments for the referee to determine findings of guilt as to ethical rule violations. (TT1 210-240). Bar counsel argued that all rule violations were proven by clear and convincing evidence. The referee began to interject comments during respondent's closing argument, evidencing that he found respondent's actions consistent with ethical misconduct. Also, it appeared that the referee erred by allowing into evidence, over bar counsel's objection, improper, uncorroborated, and inflammatory evidence that Krupnick had somehow engaged in ethical misconduct. At the end of the hearing, the referee engaged in an incomprehensive narrative, and at one point, sought to impermissibly identify himself with the respondent, without making findings of fact or conclusions of guilt. (TT1 233-239).

Specifically, the referee acknowledged:

"He [referring to respondent] just gets it. And he sees it and says, I like it, I made a copy of it, and anybody would do that. Up until that point, I don't think that anybody misbehaved. ... How about sometime do I ever say I do have these? And it seems to me your client might have said that. Why he didn't, I mean, I can understand why he didn't. It's kind of a, you know, back at you kind of a ... here's the problem I see in lawyers, and I'm going to go. Thank you for your argument and your presentation. Here is the problem I see. And I see it because, you know, I'm not nearly as old as Mr. Krupnick, but, you know, I have been a lawyer for 35 years or something like that. And when you're sure that the other side is bad, and we have people in the business who are sure that the other side is bad or sort of immoral and always cheating, then that justifies a, you know, you can either be ... a son of a gun about it, or take it on, or I can fight back and win and be competitive, but that sometimes causes you to behave in a way that you don't want to. That's not the way my daddy mentioned to me and you say to yourself what's a nice guy like me doing in a business like this, and each side thinks their [sic] angels of God and the other side is not really on their side. God is doing more important things, I hope. And but that onset of righteousness leads one to behave all sorts of little way. ... So I mean, people do things they really shouldn't do, and I don't think that they would do it if they had the ability to look at the situation from the other person's perspective. And then again to really behave properly, you have to say, well, you have to be willing to be a bit of a sap, look, even though this fellow might be engaging in shady practice against me, I'm not going to engage in it. I'm not going to fight backing that way. That's if you don't do that, then you don't get yourself in trouble. ... And when I was a lawyer, believe me, I wasn't that way. I was quick to take a shot if you took a shot at me, which I was too quick, way too quick. ... [emphasis provided]."

The referee concluded the final hearing after his lengthy comments without making any findings of fact or conclusions of guilt. (TT1 234-238).

On February 7, 2006, the referee filed his first report of referee. The referee used language consistent with findings of fact which supported conclusions of guilt for ethical violations:

"It was unprofessional and inappropriate to ask a treating physician if he is going to testify about causation ... by asking the doctor, 'are you going to testify about causation?' he in effect is soliciting information about the doctor's opinion of the medical condition of the patient. ... Attorney Cocalis clearly overstepped the line when he asked Dr. Bernhardt whether he would testify about causation. It seems clear that in both these instances Attorney Cocalis let his emotions and competitiveness interfere with the exercise of his good judgment." (RR 6).

The referee continued that:

"I have concluded that Attorney Cocalis did not violate <u>most</u> [emphasis provided] of the Rules of Professional Conduct set forth in

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