IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

REID ALEXANDER COCALIS,

Supreme Court Case No. SC05-1425

The Florida Bar File No. 2003-50,454 (17B)

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

KEVIN P. TYNAN, #710822 RICHARDSON & TYNAN, P.L.C. Attorneys for Respondent 8142 North University Drive Tamarac, FL 33321 954-721-7300

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
I. A REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF DIVERSION TO A PRACTICE AND PROFESSIONALISM ENHANCEMENT PROGRAM SHOULD BE UPHELD AS HIS FINDINGS ARE FULLY SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD BELOW
1. The referee's factual findings are fully supported by the record
A. The call to Dr. Bernhardt
B. Dr. Unis' note
2. The referee's recommendation of diversion should be upheld
3. Costs should not be imposed
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATION AS TO FONT SIZE AND STYLE

TABLE OF CASES AND CITATIONS

Cases	Page(s)
1.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Bosse</i> , 609 So. 2d 1320 (Fla. 1992)
2.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Burkich-Burell</i> , 659 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1985) 25,26
3.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Calvo</i> , 630 So. 2d 548 (Fla. 1993)
4.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Canto</i> , 668 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1996)
5.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Forrester</i> , 818 So. 2d 477 (Fla. 2002)
6.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Hmielewski</i> , 702 So. 2d 218 (Fla. 1907) 26
7.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Pahules</i> , 233 So. 2d 130 (Fla. 1970)
8.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Porter</i> , 684 So. 2d 810 (Fla. 1996)
9.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Temmer</i> , 753 So. 2d 555 (Fla. 1999)
10.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Thomas</i> , 698 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 1907)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Florida Bar, Appellant, will be referred to as "the Bar" or "The Florida Bar." Reid A. Cocalis, Appellee, will be referred to as "Respondent." The symbol "RR" will be used to designate the report of referee and the symbol "RR2" will be used to designate the second and final report of referee. The symbol "TT" will be used to designate the transcript of the final hearing held in this matter on January 9, 2006. The transcript of the proceeding held on April 10, 2006, will be designated as "HT." Exhibits introduced by the parties will be designated as TFB Ex. _____ or Resp. Ex. _____.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The statement of the case and facts set forth by the Bar in its initial brief is extremely argumentative and not supported by the record. Therefore, of necessity, the Respondent sets forth the following balanced recitation of the facts of this case.

The Florida Bar served its complaint on August 16, 2005. Shortly thereafter, on August 26, 2005, the Honorable Stephen A. Rapp was appointed to act as referee. The Respondent served his answer and affirmative defenses on September 6, 2005. The case proceeded to trial with proceedings being held on January 9, 2006 and April 10, 2006.

The referee in this case has rendered two reports. The first report dated February 7, 2006, contained the referee's factual rulings and found the Respondent not guilty of five of the rule violations alleged by the Bar in its complaint.¹ However, the referee reserved ruling on the remaining potential rule violation² and required further argument on same. That argument, as well as the presentation of character witnesses, was held on April 10, 2006. At the conclusion of this hearing the referee stated that, without passing on the guilt or innocence of the remaining disputed rule violation, he would be recommending that the Respondent, pursuant to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-5.3(h)(2), be diverted to "the Bar's Practice and

¹ The Report contains a typographical error in identifying R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-3.4(a) See footnote one from RR2.

² R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.3.

Professionalism Enhancement Program and in particular that the Respondent be directed to attend the Bar's Ethics School at his expense." RR2 at 2. The Florida Bar now appeals the recommendation of diversion and the not guilty findings on the remaining portions of its complaint.

The facts of this case are relatively straight forward and ably set forth in the first report of referee at pages two through seven. As the record will indicate the parties were in basic agreement on the majority of the key facts of the case which begins on April 14, 2000, when the Respondent appears in a personal injury action on behalf of the defendant. RR2. The case was styled *Bradley v. Brotman* and at the time of the Respondent's appearance in the matter the case had been in litigation for some time and was set for trial before Judge Leonard Stafford. RR2. The lawsuit concerned the fact that the plaintiff, Kelly Bradley, a minor, had been bitten on the lip by defendant Michelle Brotman's dog. It was asserted by the plaintiff's counsel, Jon Krupnick, that this dog bite caused the onset of alopecia areata, a skin disease resulting in hair loss on the scalp. RR2. This claim was strongly contested by the defendant, who was represented by the Respondent and Susan Rodgers, Esquire. The case was ultimately tried and there was a verdict for the plaintiff in the amount \$8,000.00 for her medical expenses for the actual dog bite, which was significantly less than the millions requested by plaintiff's counsel on the alopecia claim. RR2.

The Bar's complaint focuses on two distinct issues, both of which will be discussed in detail below. The first matter concerned a phone call between the Respondent and Dr. Mark Bernhardt, who was Kelly Bradley's treating physician and the second issue was a claim regarding the medical records of Dr. Mark Unis. RR2. Both of these issues were brought to the attention of the trial judge on several occasions (pre and post trial) with the trial judge denying the relief sought by plaintiff's counsel. RR2. The plaintiff took an appeal and the case was reversed by the Fourth District Court of Appeals. In its opinion the appellate court commented adversely on the Respondent's actions in regards to these two issues. RR2.

The referee in this case was able to conduct a thorough review of all the salient facts of this case inclusive of hearing directly from the Respondent, his cocounsel, Susan Rodgers, Jon Krupnick, counsel for the Bradley's, and the guardian ad litem for Kelly Bradley, Lawrence Kuvin. Most of this testimony was not included in the record on appeal before the Fourth District Court of Appeals. The referee was also able to consider the Fourth District's opinion, the sworn testimony of Dr. Bernhardt and the other pleadings and documents that were introduced at trial. Based upon all of this information the referee resolved the two allegations raised by the Bar.

1. The phone call to Dr. Bernhardt.

On May 22, 2000, the Respondent and his co-counsel, Susan Rodgers, received a demand letter from Jon Krupnick. See Resp. Ex. D. This letter was sent after the discovery cutoff which prevented defense counsel from taking any further depositions absent a court order. Krupnick's letter claimed that he was going to call Dr. Bernhardt as a causation witness. See Resp. Ex. D. The Respondent and Rodgers conferred on what to do about this claim in that they were now unable to take the doctor's deposition absent a court order. TT109-110. Collectively they consulted Fla. Stat. $456.057(5)^3$ and determined that a phone call with Dr. Bernhardt that did not discuss the treatment or care of Kelly Bradley and only inquired if the doctor had been retained to testify as a causation expert would not violate the statute. RR3. As the referee noted, Cocalis and Rodgers also agreed that the doctor should be specifically advised not to discuss Bradley's medical condition or treatment. RR3. With Rodgers present, the Respondent placed a phone call to Dr. Bernhardt. However, the doctor was not in and a message was left asking that the doctor return the Respondent's phone call.

The doctor did return the phone call and at the time of the call, Rodgers was no longer present. The referee made a specific finding that the Respondent "...

³ This statute was previously numbered as Fla. Stat. §455.667(5). All references to this statute will be to the current number.

did tell Dr. Bernhardt he did not intend to ask him about the patient's care and treatment . . ." RR4. Further the referee noted that Dr. Bernhardt's sworn testimony indicated that "the conversation did not disclose confidential medical information covered by the statute." RR3. Also see Resp. Ex. C9. That said the referee still believed that the phone call was "unprofessional and inappropriate," as did the Fourth District. RR3. However, the referee did not find that this phone conversation violated the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar that were charged in the complaint.⁴

2. Dr. Unis' note.

At a pretrial conference held in the *Bradley* litigation, Krupnick did not stipulate to the admissibility of the medical records that both parties had secured from Dr. Unis' office during discovery. RR5. As such the Respondent served a subpoena duces tecum for the production of these medical records at the trial. See Resp. Ex. C-13.⁵ Dr. Unis' office mistakenly forwarded the medical records to the Respondent's office prior to the trial. It was discovered at that time by the

⁴ The referee never made a ruling on the last charge which was an alleged violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.3 as he decided to recommend diversion to ethics school.

⁵ The Bar alleged that the Respondent should have provided notice to Krupnick that he had served such subpoena. However, the referee found that there was nothing improper about the service of such subpoena when the doctor and his records were listed on the pretrial witness and exhibit lists and where Bradley's lawyer could make objections related thereto at trial. RR5.

Respondent's paralegal that there was a new notation in the file. TT157. This new notation memorialized a phone call the doctor had with Krupnick after the discovery cut off. The referee found that this notation concerning this telephone conversation "... was not a record of diagnosis or treatment of the condition of the plaintiff." RR6. This note reads in toto as follows:

TRANSCRIPTION OF TELEPHONE CONVERSATION WITH ATTORNEY JOHN (sic) KRUPNICK = Apparently he represents the plaintiff. I advised him that I did not think that the patient's persistent problem with alopecia areata at this point would be due to stress from a prior dog bite. See Resp. Ex. C-3.

The Respondent directed his staff to return all of the materials furnished by Dr. Unis's office to that office. TT157. However, the Respondent's office did retain a copy of this new notation to the file.

During the trial Dr. Unis' records custodian appeared to testify, was called as a witness and began such testimony. TT158. At this point in time, Krupnick stipulated to the admission of the records without examining same even though they were tendered to him by the Respondent. TT158. After he stipulated to the admission of these documents into evidence and before the case went to the jury, Krupnick discovered this note concerning his phone call with Dr. Unis which stated that the doctor had told Krupnick that he did not believe the dog bite caused the alopecia. He thereupon sought relief from the trial judge to have this notation removed from the materials being submitted to the jury. TT165-167. The trial judge refused to do so.⁶

Once the telephone call notation was admitted into evidence, the Respondent caused same to be blown up and used it during his closing argument. TT 159.

The referee found that "(i)t was unprofessional and inappropriate and sharp practice to fail to" specifically advise Krupnick that there was a new entry in Dr. Unis' records concerning the phone call Krupnick had with him on the eve of trial. RR6. That said, the referee did not find the Respondent guilty of any rule violations concerning the failure to give a warning to Krupnick that he was about to stipulate into evidence a note that he may not have seen.⁷ RR6.

The Bar in this appeal seeks to overturn the referee's not guilty findings and his recommendation of diversion to the Bar's Practice and Professionalism Enhancement Program.

⁶ The trial judge did offer Krupnick to declare a mistrial, but this offer was declined by Krupnick. TT171.

⁷ However, Krupnick clearly had knowledge of the content of this phone call because he personally participated in same.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The referee in this case found that, in May and June of 2000, the Respondent engaged in unprofessional but not unethical conduct. As such, he believed that diversion to a Practice and Professionalism Enhancement Program, such as Ethics School, would be the appropriate remedy to resolve what he considered to be sharp practice. The Bar disagreed with this resolution and has appealed. However, they have failed to demonstrate that the referee's findings of fact and his not guilty findings were clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support.

There were two distinct actions taken by the Respondent. One was a phone call to a doctor who had provided treatment to the plaintiff in a personal injury action and the second was a decision not to specifically warn opposing counsel that he needed to more closely examine another doctor's medical records before he stipulated to their admission into evidence, when those records now included reference to a phone call with opposing counsel that confirmed the doctor's belief that there was no causation. As to the phone call the referee found that the Respondent reacted to an action taken by opposing counsel, carefully considered the applicable statute concerning contact with treating physicians, conferred with his co-counsel about his proposed conduct, prior to making what he believed to be a very limited phone call that would not violate Florida Statutes. Further the referee specifically found that no confidential medical information was shared.

The second issue related to a note placed in a medical file, which note memorialized a phone conversation that doctor had with plaintiff's counsel wherein the doctor had advised that he did not agree that the dog bite in question caused a child to lose her hair. This note was accidentally provided to the Respondent prior to trial, when the doctor's office forwarded the doctor's file to him in response to a subpoena for the production of records at trial. While the Respondent returned the documents to the doctor, he now knew about the note and kept a copy of same, even though he made no effort to use this knowledge until the doctor's records were introduced at trial. The records custodian appeared at trial and authenticated the doctor's file. At this juncture, the Respondent offered the file to opposing counsel for his review prior to submission into evidence. However, opposing counsel declined to examine the records and stipulated as to their admissibility. It was the referee's belief that the Respondent should have cautioned opposing counsel to more carefully examine these records as he knew the telephone note was important and not in the records produced at the doctor's deposition. Of course the content of the call was known to opposing counsel because he was a participant in the conversation.

Both of these actions were carefully reviewed by Judge Leonard Stafford at the time they occurred and Judge Stafford did not believe they warranted further action by him or that they warranted any form of sanction on the Respondent based

upon all of the information available to him by virtue of his involvement with the case for several years. The Fourth District Court of Appeals disagreed with Judge Stafford and found the introduction of the telephone note reversible error and chastised the Respondent concerning his handling of the note and the phone call.⁸ On remand the case settled so the trial judge did not get a chance to address the appellate court's concerns.

The Respondent's actions were reviewed a third time by the Referee. The Referee was able to consider more evidence than that which was submitted in the record on appeal, which "new" evidence included the Respondent's testimony and his co-counsel's testimony that explained the Respondent's actions.

The Bar now seeks a fourth review of the same facts and urges this Court to reverse a referee who carefully reviewed each document introduced into evidence, inclusive of the appellate decision, listened to each witness, judged their credibility and found that the Respondent engaged in unprofessional but not unethical activity. The referee proposed a very suitable remedy to fit his findings (diversion to ethics school) and this remedy should be upheld.

⁸ The Fourth District Court of Appeals did not have the benefit of the Respondent's testimony on these matters and the Referee in this case did. Also of note was that the Court did not request the Bar to investigate the matter.

ARGUMENT

I. A REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF DIVERSION TO A PRACTICE AND PROFESSIONALISM ENHANCEMENT PROGRAM SHOULD BE UPHELD AS HIS FINDINGS ARE FULLY SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD BELOW.

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